

THE ROLE OF DIGITALIZATION IN DRIVING DEMAND FOR INDUSTRIAL DECARBONIZATION MARCH 2020



ABOUT EC-MAP

The Energy Consumer Market Alignment Project (EC-MAP) is a Washington, DC based non-profit seeking to align public policy with a digital energy future. EC-MAP envisions an energy future where digital technologies drive greater transparency, fair competition, and consumer choice—and where policy enables innovation instead of creating market barriers. EC-MAP is advancing a dialogue around the role of government in this new era of energy digitalization for the transportation, power, and industrial sectors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Development of this paper was led by the EC-MAP team of Alisa Ferguson, Apoorva Sahay, Tom Hassenboehler, Cameron Prell, and Sean McGinnis. Additional support, including significant research and early drafts, was provided by Cameron Brooks, Zubayr Fentas, and Angel Kwok. EC-MAP would also like to thank our advisors and partners who generously volunteered their time to review and provide valuable feedback on this paper.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	
Decarbonization and Digitalization: Symbiotic Trends	5
A New Era of Carbon Transparency	8
Why Industrials?	9
Industrial Emissions Challenges and Solutions	12
Governments Seek to Buy Clean	14
The Promise of Digital MRV	15
Measurement, Reporting, and Verification Systems Today	16
The Many Faces of ESG	18
Key Principles of Digital MRV	18
The Future is Now: Building Markets for Differentiated Commodities	20
Industrial Competitiveness as Climate Competitiveness: How Do We Get There?	
Key Barriers	22
Recommendations for Action	23
Conclusion	25
Further Reading	25
Endnotes	26

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



EC-MAP

Climate change is a systems problem, but most approaches to addressing it—while often resulting in meaningful progress—have nonetheless been insufficient in aggregate to match the scale and urgency of the problem. At the same time, the rise of the internet and digitalization has been a revolutionary driver of economy-wide systems change—transforming social relationships, global connectivity, science, communications, politics, and governance. Together, these symbiotic trends have the potential to usher in a new era of carbon transparency—one with the potential to drive change from the bottom up, with consumers playing a more significant role in meeting their energy needs and driving goals around cost, sustainability, and efficiency.

In general, the speed of digitalization (like climate change itself) is outpacing government's response. However, if digitalization can be appropriately harnessed and governed, it has enormous potential to drive climate policy. A key test area poised to benefit from digitalization is industrial decarbonization.

Industrial emissions—in particular from energy-intensive commodities like chemicals, cement, iron and steel, and aluminum as well as the extraction, production, and refining of oil and natural gas—represent a growing problem and one that is incredibly complex. Although technologies to help reduce industrial emissions are beginning to mature, there remains no clear and consistent way for the market to differentiate and value low-carbon industrial products in relation to higher polluting alternatives. This market challenge presents a new opportunity for industry and other climate stakeholders.

The key to unlocking this opportunity will be overcoming barriers to better data access and better data contextualization by deploying a new digital approach to measurement, reporting, and verification (Digital MRV) that quantifies emissions and environmental attributes in ways that are more granular, more accurate, and more actionable. By leveraging digitalization and advanced digital technologies like AI and blockchain, industrial companies can securely collect, store, and share real-time environmental data—and in turn, give consumers, investors, and governments a more complete, timely, credible, and trustworthy assessment of the climate impact of a particular product, facility, or company.

The promise of Digital MRV, however, is not guaranteed. Successfully implementing Digital MRV systems is an imperative that will require adherence to key principles including transparency, accuracy, replicability, predictability, and interoperability. Doing so will also require significant new stakeholder engagement and governance frameworks to build upon and convert existing standards, metrics, and methodologies into digital standards and benchmarks. EC-MAP is building an ecosystem of partners and allies to explore the role of digitalization in driving demand for industrial decarbonization.

DECARBONIZATION AND DIGITALIZATION: SYMBIOTIC TRENDS



Climate change is a systems problem. The signatories to the 2015 Paris Agreement committed to keep global temperature rise under 2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels, while seeking to achieve an aggressive target of 1.5 degrees Celsius.¹ Achieving this will require cutting greenhouse gas emissions in half by 2030 and reaching net zero emissions by 2050.²

However, to date, most of the approaches to address climate change have been incremental and pragmatic, in many cases due to political and economic constraints. Despite continued progress on renewables deployment, electric vehicle adoption, and the development of carbon capture utilization and storage technologies—and most recently a flattening of global emissions in 2019—climate policy has nonetheless been insufficient to match the scale and urgency of the problem.³

Concurrently, the rise of the internet and digitalization has been the biggest driver of economy-wide, systems change in our lifetime, resulting in transformational change in social relationships, global connectivity, science, communications, politics, and governance. Real-time access to the internet, broadband, and mobile devices has increased exponentially in each of the past four decades (see Figure 1). In the U.S., smartphone adoption has surpassed 80 percent.⁴ As recently as the early 2000s, the world's largest companies represented a diversity of industries; however, today all of the world's largest companies are focused on information and communications technology.⁵

To date, climate policy has been insufficient to match the scale and urgency of the problem.

Figure 1 Growth in Global Internet Traffic



Source: International Energy Agency

Information and communications technologies are intersecting with the energy system in a variety of ways, including through data collection, data analytics, and real-time communications networks.⁶ Advances in computing and machine learning have also enabled advanced functionality to be embedded within energy delivery systems and distribution networks.⁷

Unlike many energy and environment innovations of past decades, emerging digital innovations are not relegated to serving a single purpose. Rather, most are crosscutting digital tools and platforms that can be applied to the energy system in myriad ways. They include:

- Artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning that enable increased automation;
- Blockchain technologies that enable secure, decentralized, peer-topeer transactions;
- Crowdsourcing platforms that enable creative finance mechanisms and expose consumer preferences;
- The internet of things, which connects smart appliances, electronics, mobile devices, and sensors and enables them to communicate across a network; and
- Software and systems that enable new business models for energy services.

Although the intersection of information technology and energy is far from new, the pace of adoption is accelerating dramatically. Investment in digital technologies by energy companies grew by more than 20 percent between 2014 and 2016 (see Figure 2). Bloomberg New Energy Finance (BNEF) has projected the market for digital technologies in energy (including for fossil fuel production, renewable generation, and grid applications) will reach \$64 billion by 2025.⁸ Moreover, BNEF estimates that the benefits from digitalization of the energy sector will rise from \$17 billion in 2017 to \$38 billion in 2025.⁹

The market for digital technologies in energy will reach \$64 billion by 2025.

Figure 2 Recent Growth Trends in Digital Energy Infrastructure Invesment



Source: International Energy Agency

A NEW ERA OF CARBON TRANSPARENCY

Together, these symbiotic trends have the potential to usher in a new era of carbon transparency¹⁰ — an era with the potential to transform sustainability and climate policy, driving change from the bottom up, with consumers playing a more significant role in meeting their energy needs and driving goals around cost, sustainability, and efficiency.

However, this potential will only be realized if digitalization is implemented and governed appropriately.¹¹ Some stakeholders are concerned that digitalization of the fossil fuels industry could "automate the climate crisis,"¹² while studies by PwC ¹³ and the Environmental Defense Fund ¹⁴ have highlighted the emissions reduction potential of similar digital technologies. Blockchain has been regularly criticized for its high energy requirements, but understanding its impacts on emissions will likely require a more nuanced understanding of where the energy-intensive data systems are located and the emissions profile of the electricity those systems use.¹⁵

In general, the speed of digitalization (like climate change itself) is outpacing government's response. However, if digitalization can be appropriately harnessed and governed, it has enormous potential to drive climate policy and reduce emissions not just within one sector, but across sectors; accelerate not only technology performance but market innovation at scale; and redefine the role of government in achieving policy goals —both emissions reduction and economic competitiveness. A key test area poised to benefit from digitalization is industrial decarbonization.

WHY INDUSTRIALS?



"Industrials" include a range of heavy industries, including a wide variety of manufacturing processes; the production of energy-intensive commodities including chemicals, cement, iron and steel, and aluminum; and the extraction, production, and refining of oil and natural gas. Industrial greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are made up of direct emissions (Scope 1), indirect emissions (Scope 2), and value chain emissions (Scope 3) (See Table 1).

TERM	DEFINITION
Scope 1 Emissions	Direct emissions from owned or controlled sources
Scope 2 Emissions	Indirect emissions from generation of purchased energy
Scope 3 Emissions	All indirect emissions (not included in Scope 2) that occur in the value chain of the reporting company, including both upstream and downstream emissions
Product Life Cycle Emissions	All emissions associated with the production and use of a specific product, from cradle to grave, including emissions from raw materials, manufacture, transport, storage, sale, use, and disposal
CO2 Equivalent (CO2e)	A quantity of GHG can be expressed as CO2e by multiplying the amount of the GHG by its GWP (see below).
Global Warming Potential (GWP)	How much energy the emissions of 1 metric ton of a gas will absorb over a given period of time (usually 100 years), relative to the emissions of 1 metric ton of carbon dioxide (CO2). The larger the GWP, the more that a greenhouse gas warms the Earth compared to CO2 over that time period.

TABLE 1: THE LANGUAGE OF EMISSIONS

Sources: Greenhouse Gas Protocol, Ecometrica, and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

Direct industrial emissions represent 22% of GHG emissions in the U.S.¹⁶ and 24% globally.¹⁷ However, if both direct emissions and indirect emissions are taken into account, the industrial sector represents the largest source of greenhouse gas emissions in the U.S.—1,916 million metric tons (MMT) of CO2e, or 29% of the U.S total in 2017 (see Figure 3).¹⁸ Comparisons of value chain emissions can be challenging because accounting and reporting remain inconsistent across industry despite growing interest among companies and investors to understand and address them.





Without new action, industrial emissions are projected to rise 23% by 2050.

Source: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)

The vast majority of direct industrial emissions are from the combustion of fossil fuels for process energy, with additional emissions from chemical reactions necessary to convert raw materials into products (such as melting iron ore to produce steel or calcination of limestone to make cement) and from the production and use of hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), highly potent GHGs used in refrigeration, air-conditioning, aerosols, and foams. With regard to oil and gas production, the highest percentage of emissions come from methane emissions from natural gas systems.¹⁹

Without new action, these emissions are projected to rise. The Energy Information Administration has projected a 23% increase in industrial emissions by 2050 (see Figure 4).²⁰

EC-MAP

Figure 4 Energy-Related Carbon Dioxide Emissions by Sector (billion metric tons of CO2)



Source: U.S. Energy Information Administration

INDUSTRIAL EMISSIONS CHALLENGES AND SOLUTIONS

The industrial sector also represents one of our most complex emissions challenges. From a technology perspective, the diversity and complexity of industrial processes means there is no one-size-fits all solution. Moreover, there are currently very limited low-carbon alternatives for producing a key ingredient in industrial products: high-temperature industrial heat. In fact, 42% of industrial emissions come from combustion to produce large quantities of industrial heat for cement, steel, and chemicals.²¹

To date, the industrial sector has pursued a variety of approaches to Scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions reduction, including:

- Utilizing renewable electricity, bioenergy, or low-carbon hydrogen;
- Utilizing alternative raw materials;
- Minimizing process energy inputs and/or improving energy efficiency; and
- Integrating carbon capture utilization and storage (CCUS) technologies to offset emissions from fossil fuels.

However, even when these approaches are successfully deployed, there remains another significant challenge: There is no clear and consistent way for the market to differentiate and value low-carbon industrial products in relation to higher polluting alternatives—in other words, there is no real carbon transparency.

Some companies and governments are seeking to assess the carbon impacts of various products and certify low-carbon and/or more sustainable industrials products and materials (see Box, Governments Seek to Buy Clean). However, global markets more broadly cannot currently access timely and accurate information about the environmental impacts associated with industrial commodities. This disconnect limits investment consistent with the scale and pace required to meet science-based climate targets and sustainable development goals.

This market challenge presents a new opportunity for industry and other climate stakeholders. The key to unlocking it will be finding innovative ways to differentiate low-carbon industrial products, drive consumer demand, and incentivize industry to accelerate emissions reductions.

Today there is no clear and consistent way for the market to differentiate and value lowcarbon industrial products.

GOVERNMENTS SEEK TO BUY CLEAN

An emerging trend in government procurement has been to define and encourage the purchase of more sustainable, lower-carbon goods and services, in particular building materials and other products used in public infrastructure. Such programs are collectively referred to as green public procurement (GPP) or "Buy Clean" initiatives, and typically focus on materials such as steel, cement, asphalt, and glass.²²

Twenty-two countries, as well as regional, state, and local government entities are developing and implementing Buy Clean programs, with the intent to improve competitiveness by attracting cleantech investment and incentivize producers of low-carbon products. Buy Clean programs typically assess the sustainability of products and services using lifecycle analysis (LCA), which examines the environmental impact of a product over its entire lifetime from production through transport, use, and disposal. Although many standards are still under development, programs often must rely on static tools and methodologies that use as inputs assumptions from regulatory reports or industrial studies²³ or data that has been directly measured but is incomplete (e.g. missing more granular process-specific or facility-specific data). In addition, LCA does not necessarily allow analysts to update inputs on a timely basis; for example, recent legislation introduced to create a U.S. Federal Buy Clean standard recommends updating environmental impacts every five years²⁴ —a timeframe during which significant emissions changes may occur but would not be captured by the LCA results.

Conversely, a market with full information—and by extension full investor confidence—will require Buy Clean programs to go further, incorporating a more accurate, real-time, trustworthy version of carbon transparency. Improved measurement, reporting, and verification (MRV) that leverages data and emerging digital technologies has the power to radically transform both public and private procurement of low-carbon industrial products.

THE PROMISE OF DIGITAL MRV



MEASUREMENT, REPORTING, AND VERIFICATION SYSTEMS TODAY

Measurement, reporting, and verification (MRV) systems, also known as evaluation, measurement, and verification (EMV), have been used for decades to assess compliance with energy efficiency programs and emissions reduction requirements and goals.

Generally, there are two components of MRV: 1) the technical component, defined as what is being measured; and 2) the contextual component, defined as how the measurement is used in a regulatory or investment context.

MRV today faces a variety of challenges that can affect both of these components and create uncertainty for consumers, investors, and governments. These challenges fall into two categories: data access and data contextualization.

Data access begins with what is collected. Hardware and software—specifically sensors, communications capabilities, and cloud data storage—have grown significantly in recent years. However, not all industries and companies have deployed the hardware and software necessary to collect the quantity and quality of data necessary to assess the climate impact of its products. A recent survey of manufacturing professionals found that nearly half (48%) still rely on manual data inputs in spreadsheets and only 40% are collecting data through remote sensors.²⁵

In some cases, companies have collected robust data sets, but they are locked within legacy systems and cannot be easily accessed or transmitted. Updating or replacing obsolete systems—or switching to new vendors or platforms—can be costly, and rarely are economic incentives clear.²⁶ Fears about data privacy and security—whether legitimate concerns or misconceptions about how technologies work—also creates barriers for companies.²⁷ Even companies that have implemented state-of-the-art, cloud-based systems often consider much of their data confidential business information and therefore are hesitant to allow access by consumers, investors, and governments.

Some companies have sought to address these issues by developing new, open source data tools. The Swedish construction company Skanska has partnered with Microsoft and others to launch the Embodied Carbon in Construction Calculator (EC3), a free, cloud-based, open source tool which gives buyers of building materials key emissions information they can use to make more informed purchasing decisions.²⁸ Salesforce has also launched a new carbon accounting product called Sustainability

MRV today faces a variety of challenges that create uncertainty for consumers, investors, and governments. Cloud, which leverages data sets from federal agencies like the U.S. EPA and intergovernmental bodies like the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). This system allows businesses to "track, analyze, and report reliable environmental data to help them reduce their carbon emissions."²⁹

Similarly, in 2019, the U.S. government enacted the OPEN Government Data Act, which intended to improve public access and usability of government data. The new law requires government data to be machine readable and maintained in an "open" format not subject to licensing.³⁰ Although some environmental data sets are already in open formats, Federal agencies have only just begun to assess how to modernize MRV systems, and mandates in the law are currently unfunded.³¹

Data contextualization is perhaps an even more complex issue. A critical issue for every industry is the need to establish data collection, formatting, and quality standards. Currently, there is no common or shared context for what sustainability or climate-related impacts of a given commodity or commercial activity means. Subjectivity and bias (intended or unintended), workforce training and knowledge, and resource intensity, i.e. the ability of companies to handle the volume of data in a timely manner, can all contribute to inconsistencies in data contextualization.

One well-documented result is that investors seeking to assess the environmental, social, and governance (ESG) attributes of companies are faced with dozens of inconsistent standards (see Box, The Many Faces of ESG). Moreover, in the U.S., the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requires public companies to disclose climate risk, but companies are responsible for devising the standards by which they measure these risks. A recent paper found that in some cases, companies may use the SEC disclosures to minimize the impact of greenhouse gas emissions data they have reported under a different government requirement, the U.S. Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program (US GHGRP).³²

The GHG Management Institute has also evaluated the ongoing growth (amount of data) and granularity of data sets (international, national, regional, state, and local; Scope 1, 2 and 3) related to greenhouse gas emissions. The group concluded that the limited number of experts combined with insufficient training and skills represent a significant limitation for stakeholders to process, contextualize, and use this data.³³

A new digital version of measurement, reporting, and verification (Digital MRV) that leverages the growth in digitalization by collecting, storing, sharing, and securing key environmental data has the potential to address these challenges in significant ways and become an imperative for both industry and government.

Investors seeking to assess environmental, social, and governance (ESG) attributes are faced with dozens of inconsistent standards.

THE MANY FACES OF ESG

The process of assessing environmental, social, and governance (ESG) performance has become central to identifying high-impact opportunities for climate action and business growth. An aggregate of more than 2,000 empirical studies related to ESG and financial performance gave evidence that ESG investing establishes long-term strategic benefits to firms.³⁴ In terms of mainstreaming ESG into conventional financial portfolios, researchers from MIT Sloan found that "an estimated \$30 trillion of assets are invested worldwide that rely in some way on ESG information, a figure that has grown 34% since 2016."³⁵

Demand for sustainable asset classes has created a "hyper-competitive landscape for ESG rating systems" and resulted in a multitude of different, competing standards that make it difficult for investors to make apples-toapples comparisons.³⁶ In addition, methodologies behind various standards are often considered proprietary, which both stymies corporations attempting to improve their performance as well as investors seeking to make informed investments.³⁷

This overall lack of uniformity often results in a company carrying vastly divergent ratings from different rating agencies simultaneously, with biases in favor of larger companies and companies with headquarters in certain geographies (such as Europe).³⁸ With no auditing process to verify reported data, investors are left to trust information that is subjective and far from trustworthy.

Without reform, the future of carbon transparency will be decidedly murky. But companies and investors can close the gap that exists between intention (goals to meet climate commitments) and action (executing on those commitments) by replacing inconsistent ESG systems with Digital MRV systems that use real-time, verified data to objectively quantify emissions and other environmental attributes.

KEY PRINCIPLES OF DIGITAL MRV

Digital measurement, reporting, and verification (Digital MRV) systems have the potential to significantly improve on current MRV systems today—and help turn carbon transparency into market-driven climate action.

Digital MRV systems can securely collect, store, and share real-time data regarding emissions and other environmental attributes that can help give consumers, investors, and governments a more complete, timely, credible, and trustworthy assessment of the climate impact of a particular product, facility, or company (see Figure 5). Such assessments are critical for taking action on the investments and policy necessary to create markets for low-carbon products and ultimately accelerate emissions reduction.

Digital MRV systems can help turn carbon transparency into market-driven climate action.

Figure 5 Differentiation of Commodities with Digital MRV

Product A (Today)		Product B (Digital MRV)	
Basic data expected by the market Performance specifications Region where it is manufactured Legal and warranty information UL or similar certifications 'Static, imperfect informa with limited usefulness fo and government	Sustainability information* • Scope 1, 2, 3 and/or LCA information (if any) • ESG rating (if any) • ESG rating (if any) ation and assumptions r consumers, investors,	Basic data expected by the market Performance specifications Region where it is manufactured Legal and warranty information UL or similar certifications	Sustainability information* Full attributional profile, including materials and inputs used in production and their environmental impacts CO2e emissions for Scope 1, 2, and 3 based on timely and verified data, including for raw material acquisition, production and distribution, transportation, and packaging Additional environmental impacts based on timely and verified data, such as water use and land impacts Standardized, uniform ESG rating that can be used to compare similar products
		*Pool time dynamic info	rmation with high value

*Real-time, dynamic information with high value for consumers, investors, and governments

Source: EC-MAP

Digital MRV can help turn environmental attributes into assets valued both for government compliance and in the market. The availability of trusted, real-time information could also help accelerate dynamic policymaking and enable common standards that better enable the market's "digital invisible hand"³⁹ to steer towards a net-zero carbon society. However, realizing the promise of Digital MRV will require adherence to five key principles:

- Transparency: The ability for consumers, investors, and governments to access machine-readable, open source data in real time.
- Accuracy: The ability for consumers, investors, and governments to trust the validity of the data they are accessing.
- Replicability: The ability for consumers, investors, and governments to compare similar products, facilities, and companies based on an accepted set of standards and practices that contextualize the data.
- Predictability: The ability for consumers, investors, and governments to more accurately forecast future scenarios (and potentially implement updated policy and regulation) based on analysis by automated or Al systems that are inherently more robust than human analysis.
- Interoperability: The ability for data (including metadata, ontologies, and vocabularies for the description and organization of data)⁴⁰ to be shared across systems regardless of geographic boundary, vendor, or organization and for Digital MRV systems to evolve with future technology.



These principles can serve as a point of departure for developing Digital MRV systems, including the robust physical infrastructure to collect, store, and share data as well as consistent standards for data contextualization. Several are already being implemented as companies and investors seek to define and market low-carbon industrial products (see Box, The Future is Now: Building Markets for Differentiated Commodities).

THE FUTURE IS NOW: BUILDING MARKETS FOR DIFFERENTIATED COMMODITIES

Although commodities are often thought of as inherently fungible and static, the reality is that industrial commodities vary widely in terms of their lifecycle environmental footprint. The source of raw materials, production configuration and process efficiency, and the characteristics of a given supply chain all impact a product's environmental profile. For example, before oil is refined into gasoline, plastics, and other finished products, the embodied carbon in a particular barrel of crude oil can vary by up to 80% depending on its origin, how it is produced, and how it is transported to for refining.⁴¹ Similarly, a unit of natural gas produced using tight emission and methane controls will have a far lower carbon intensity profile compared to natural gas produced using limited controls.

One company seeking to illuminate these differences in the market is Xpansiv CBL Holding Group (XCHG). XCHG is a data refinery—a company that filters and processes raw data to create valuable information that enables commodity differentiation. XCHG processes real-time commodity production data using AI-enabled systems to create what the company calls "Digital Feedstock," a secure digital asset that contains an accurate, verified profile of the lifecycle environmental characteristics of a given commodity. The company leverages the power of remote sensing, digital monitoring, deep learning, and a distributed ledger platform (i.e. blockchain technologies) to reveal the specific environmental attributes (e.g. GHG intensity, water use, land disturbance) that differentiate a low-carbon commodity from a higher polluting alternative. These digital assets enable the market to more accurately contextualize environmental data and potentially accelerate procurement decisions aligned with sustainability and climate goals.

XCHG also owns CBL Markets, the leading environmental spot exchange where buyers and sellers can participate in the emerging marketplace for differentiated commodities. XCHG is engaged with producers and standards organizations across multiple sectors to generate and transact certified digital assets tagged to commodities produced with low-carbon intensity and other ESG attributes, including sustainable aviation fuel, low-methaneemissions natural gas, and low-carbon cement.

INDUSTRIAL COMPETITIVENESS AS CLIMATE COMPETITIVENESS: HOW DO WE GET THERE?



EC-MAP

KEY BARRIERS

Digital MRV has the potential to improve industrial competitiveness while creating a new category of differentiation: climate competitiveness. However, as described above, to achieve this promise, stakeholders must address a variety of technical, market, and policy barriers. Table 2 summarizes key barriers to implementing Digital MRV to drive emissions reduction.

TABLE 2: KEY BARRIERS FOR DIGITAL MRV

Key Barriers for Digital MRV					
Technical Barriers	Market Barriers	Policy Barriers			
 Digital technologies are nascent. Use cases and implementation issues are not yet well understood by key actors, including many industrial companies which will be responsible for deploying them. Legacy systems that operate on outdated standards and protocols can create barriers for first movers seeking to implement Digital MRV. Companies and governments often collect and store data in proprietary formats. 	 Market Barriers There are currently no uniform standards for benchmarking or rating the emissions impact of industrial products. Companies are legitimately concerned that historically invisible environmental data will reveal confidential business information. There are few incentives or requirements for companies to make data accessible or use it to differentiate their products. No one has yet quantified the market opportunity for low-carbon industrial products. 	 Policy Barriers There are few forums for stakeholder education, discussion, and collaboration across climate and data sectors. Open access to government data is a work in progress. Governments are significant buyers of industrial products, but there are limited/ nascent incentives or requirements for government procurement of low-carbon industrial products. 			
		 The necessary legal frameworks for low- carbon industrial product certificates that could drive investment have not yet been developed. Cybersecurity and data privacy regulations are nascent and must be adopted in a manner that protects consumers but does not stifle the promise of Digital MRV. 			

Critical to the success of Digital MRV will be discussion and dialogue across multiple sectors.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ACTION

EC-MAP and our partners have identified three areas for near-term action: 1) Cross-Sector Stakeholder Engagement; 2) Research Agenda; and 3) Policy Development. Each of these seeks to address barriers described above.

1. CROSS-SECTOR STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Critical to the success of Digital MRV will be discussion and dialogue across multiple sectors, specifically heavy industries that will deploy Digital MRV systems; internet and communications technology providers that offer Digital MRV hardware, software, and systems; customers for industrial products (individuals and organizations—including governments) that procure industrial commodities; and investors seeking to better quantify and understand climate risk.

Stakeholders should develop forums for these critical players to engage in discussion about education and communications around Digital MRV; sharing of use cases and best practices to date; development of standards and methodologies for data contextualization; and recommendations for policy development and governance. Such forums should bring together buyers and sellers across commodity value chains with industry; data scientists; digital platform technology partners; energy, climate, financial policymakers; standards bodies; and other technical experts. Together these stakeholders can build upon and convert existing standards, metrics, and methodologies into uniform digital standards and benchmarks, as well as explore use cases, pilot projects, and new market applications to align with customer demand.

2. RESEARCH AGENDA

Additional research and surveys can help stakeholders better quantify the opportunity for Digital MRV to drive industrial emissions reduction; illuminate the current state of technology deployment and key barriers; and inform policy discussions and the role of government in supporting Digital MRV. Stakeholders should support development of research focused on topics such as:

- Quantifying the overall market for low-carbon industrial products and market potential for specific products.
- Identifying and assessing current approaches to Digital MRV and best practices for turning the key principles described above into actions that can be taken by consumers, investors, and governments.
- Identifying and making accessible a database of Digital MRV use cases and/or pilot programs currently undertaken by industry and governments.
- Assessing the implementation of the OPEN Government Data Act and outstanding policy or funding gaps.



3. POLICY LEADERSHIP

Policymakers are seeking new ideas for climate policy with renewed urgency. Stakeholders should seek to educate and build policy champions for approaches that leverage the promise of digitalization to transform carbon transparency and incentivize action by consumers, investors, and governments to accelerate emissions reduction.

With the continued deployment of internet-connected computers and devices that gather and analyze data, perform complex operations, automatically adapt based on experience, and communicate with other similar systems, there are potentially vast opportunities to transform the regulatory frameworks that promote climate responsiveness.⁴² Defining and prioritizing the most effective approaches and activities represent a significant need and undertaking for policymakers and other stakeholders.

EC-MAP seeks to ensure that this decade's emerging climate policies have a digital architecture—one that enables more nimble and responsive governance models as well as frameworks for markets to drive decarbonization from the bottom up. Stakeholders should consider:

- Briefing series for Federal and state policymakers focused on digitalization, carbon transparency, and implementing Digital MRV.
- Development of a cross-industry coalition(s) to educate and advocate for digital climate policy.
- Building expertise among existing caucuses and/or building a new bipartisan, Digital Climate Policy Caucus for policymakers to learn and lead on these issues.

In addition, stakeholders should consider the development of bipartisan, consensus legislation to define the Federal government role in leveraging digital technologies to drive carbon transparency and demand for low-carbon industrial products. Such legislation may include provisions related to:

- Ensuring relevant government databases are accessible to the public.
- Assessing how existing government databases can help address gaps in data needed to differentiate industrial products.
- Incentivizing reporting of data needed to differentiate industrial products (e.g. as part of existing voluntary GHG reporting or through financial regulation).
- Accelerating efforts to expand open access to high-value energy and environmental datasets.
- Developing standard methodologies for defining industrial product categories and measuring environmental attributes of industrial commodities.
- Incentivizing the adoption of standards by regulatory agencies.
- Establishing legal frameworks for clean product certificates.
- Developing heightened public, hybrid, and private governance mechanisms to regulate equitable open access to data and to reduce or avoid biases in public data used as inputs to algorithms.
- Establishing a "Buy Clean" procurement program for government agencies.

Stakeholders should develop bipartisan, consensus legislation to define the Federal government role in leveraging digital technologies to drive carbon transparency and demand for lowcarbon industrial products.

CONCLUSION

Climate change is a systems problem; climate solutions require a systems architecture. The growth in decision-useful data and deployment of digital technologies present a new opportunity to accelerate reductions in the climate impacts of industrial processes and products. With the right policy and governance framework, transforming data transparency and uniformity in data contextualization can accelerate the complex yet critical task of industrial decarbonization. EC-MAP will continue working with its partners and allies to explore, educate, and promote new ways to convert carbon transparency into robust, market-driven climate action.

FURTHER READING

Almond, Max, Lesley Hunter, Bill Parsons, and Gregory Wetstone. *ESG 2.0 How to Improve ESG Scoring to Better Reflect Renewable Energy Use and Investment.* Washington, DC: American Council on Renewable Energy, September 2019.

"A Primer on Machine Readability for Online Documents and Data." Data.gov website, September 24, 2012.

Austin, Tasha, David Mader, Mekala Ravichandran, and Matt Rumsey. *Future of Open Data: Maximizing the Impact of the OPEN Government Data Act.* Washington, DC: The Data Foundation and Deloitte, October 2019.

de Pee, Arnout, Dickon Pinner, Occo Roelofsen, Ken Somers, Eveline Speelman, and Maaike Witteveen. *Decarbonization of Industrial Sectors: The Next Frontier.* Amsterdam, The Netherlands: McKinsey & Company, June 2018.

Doyle, Timothy M. *Ratings That Don't Rate: The Subjective World of ESG Ratings Agencies.* Washington, DC: American Council for Capital Formation, July 2018.

Environmental Defense Fund (EDF) in collaboration with Accenture Strategy, *Fueling a Digital Methane Future*. n.p.: EDF and Accenture, 2019.

Fuessler, Juerg, Felipe De León, Rachel Mok, Owen Hewlett, Cristian Retamal, Massamba Thioye, and Nick Beglinger, et al. *Navigating Blockchain and Climate Action: An Overview*. n.p.: Climate Ledger Initiative, December 4, 2018.

Future Earth. *Digital Disruptions for Sustainability Agenda (D^2S Agenda): Research, Innovation, Action.* n.p: Future Earth, 2020.

Hasanbeigi, Ali, Renilde Becqué, and Cecilia Springer. *Curbing Carbon from Consumption: The Role of Green Public Procurement.* San Francisco, CA: Global Efficiency Intelligence, August 2019.

Herweijer, Celine, Benjamin Combes, and Jonathan Gillham. *How AI Can Enable A Sustainable Future.* Report prepared for Microsoft Corporation by PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC), n.d.

Herweijer, Celine, Benjamin Combes, Pia Ramchandani, and Jasnam Sidhu. *Fourth Industrial Revolution for the Earth: Harnessing Artificial Intelligence for the Earth.* n.p.: PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC), January 2018.

St. Calir, Asun and Øyvind Smogeli. "Towards Trustworthy Industrial AI Systems." n.p.: DNV GL, February 2020.

Walsh, Jason, Ryan Fitzpatrick, and Mykael Goodsell-SooTho. *Industry Matters: Smarter Energy Use is Key for US Competitiveness, Jobs, and Climate Efforts.* Washington, DC: Third Way, October 10, 2018.

ENDNOTES

¹ "What is the Paris Agreement," United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, accessed February 12, 2020, https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/what-is-the-paris-agreement.

² Future Earth, *Digital Disruptions for Sustainability Agenda (D^2S Agenda): Research, Innovation, Action* (n.p.: Future Earth, 2020).

³ Ben Geman, "Nothing is Happening Remotely Fast Enough to Save the Planet," *Axios*, November 26, 2019, https://www.axios.com/united-nations-emissions-report-climate-6aa598dd-a327-457c-a5fa-8430dbc95813.html.

⁴ Adam Lella, "U.S. Smartphone Penetration Surpassed 80 Percent in 2016," *comScore*, February 3, 2017, https://www.comscore.com/Insights/Blog/US-Smartphone-Penetration-Surpassed-80-Percent-in-2016.

⁵ International Energy Agency, *Digitalization & Energy* (Paris: International Energy Agency, 2017).

6 Ibid.

⁷ Global revenues from AI applications is projected to grow from \$1.6 billion in 2018 to \$31.2 billion in 2025; and, the number of start-ups focused on AI technologies has grown dramatically from fewer than 100 in 2015 to more than 600 today. See: Louis Columbus, "10 Charts That Will Change Your Perspective on Artificial Intelligence's Growth," *Forbes*, January 12, 2018, https://www.forbes.com/sites/ louiscolumbus/2018/01/12/10-charts-that-will-change-your-perspective-on-artificial intelligences-growth/#74cf2d324758. ⁸ "Market for Digitalization in Energy Sector to Grow to \$64BN by 2025," *Bloomberg New Energy Finance*, November 7, 2017, https://about.bnef.com/blog/marketdigitalization-energy-sector-grow-64bn-2025/.

⁹ "Digitalization Could Provide \$38 Billion in Benefits to Energy," *Bloomberg New Energy Finance*, January 29, 2018, https://about.bnef.com/blog/digitalization-provide-38b-benefits-energy/.

¹⁰ Stephen Lacey, "The Most Influential Deals, Stats, Twists and Buzz Phrases of the Decade," *The Interchange* podcast, December 23, 2019, https://www.greentechmedia. com/articles/read/the-most-influential-stories-of-the-decade.

¹¹ Future Earth, *Digital Disruptions for Sustainability Agenda (D^2S Agenda): Research, Innovation, Action* (n.p.: Future Earth, 2020).

¹² Brian Merchant, "How Google, Microsoft, and Big Tech Are Automating the Climate Crisis," *Gizmodo*, February 21, 2019, https://gizmodo.com/how-google-microsoftand-big-tech-are-automating-the-1832790799?utm_campaign=citylab-dailynewsletter&utm_medium=email&silverid=%25%25RECIPIENT_ID%25%25&utm_ source=newsletter.

¹³ Celine Herweijer, Benjamin Combes, and Jonathan Gillham, *How AI Can Enable A Sustainable Future*. Prepared by PriceWaterhouseCoopers for Microsoft Corporation, accessed February 16, 2020, https://www.pwc.co.uk/sustainability-climate-change/assets/pdf/how-ai-can-enable-a-sustainable-future.pdf.

¹⁴ Environmental Defense Fund in collaboration with Accenture Strategy, *Fueling a Digital Methane Future* (n.p.: EDF and Accenture, 2019), https://www.edf.org/sites/default/files/documents/Fueling%20a%20Digital%20Methane%20Future_FINAL.pdf.

¹⁵ Gregory Barber, "Bitcoin's Climate Impact Is Global. The Cures Are Local," *Wired*, June 12, 2018, https://www.wired.com/story/bitcoins-climate-impact-global-cures-local/.

¹⁶ "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks," U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, accessed February 6, 2020, https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/ inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks.

¹⁷ Araceli Fernandez Pales, et al., *Tracking Industry*, International Energy Agency tracking report, May 2019, https://www.iea.org/tcep/industry/.

¹⁸ Jason Walsh, Ryan Fitzpatrick, and Mykael Goodsell-SooTho, "Industry Matters: Smarter Energy Use is Key for US Competitiveness, Jobs, and Climate Efforts," Third Way report, October 10, 2018, https://www.thirdway.org/report/industry-matterssmarter-energy-use-is-key-for-us-competitiveness-jobs-and-climate-effort.

¹⁹ Lindsay Walter, "Eliminating US Climate Pollution: Consider the Source," Third Way memo, June 26, 2019, https://www.thirdway.org/memo/eliminating-us-climate-pollution-consider-the-source.



²⁰ Walsh, Fitzpatrick, and Goodsell-SooTho, "Industry Matters: Smarter Energy Use is Key for US Competitiveness, Jobs, and Climate Efforts."

²¹ David Roberts, "This Climate Problem is Bigger than Cars and Much Harder to Solve," *Vox*, January 31, 2020, https://www.vox.com/energy-andenvironment/2019/10/10/20904213/climate-change-steel-cement-industrial-heathydrogen-ccs.

²² OECD/IEA/NEA/ITF, *Aligning Policies for a Low-Carbon Economy* (Paris: OECD Publishing, 2015), http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264233294-en.

²³ Renpeng Zou, "Design for Sustainability through a Life Cycle Assessment Conceptual Framework Integrated within Product Lifecycle Management," (master's thesis, University of Massachusetts Amherst, April 2018), https://scholarworks.umass. edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1634&context=masters_theses_2.

²⁴ Climate Leadership and Environmental Action for our Nation's (CLEAN) Future Act, Discussion Draft, 116th Cong. (2020), https://energycommerce.house.gov/ sites/democrats.energycommerce.house.gov/files/documents/0128%20CLEAN%20 Future%20Discussion%20Draft.pdf.

²⁵ Marco Annunziata, "Digital-Industrial Revolution: Ready To Run After Very Slow Start, New Survey Shows," *Forbes*, February 28, 2019, https://www.forbes.com/sites/ marcoannunziata/2019/02/28/digital-industrial-revolution-ready-to-run-after-veryslow-start-new-survey-shows/#6080ac0b77dd.

²⁶ Jason Massey, CEO, Ndustrial.io, phone conversation with EC-MAP, February 12, 2020.

27 Ibid.

²⁸ Lucas Joppa, "Beyond our Four Walls: How Microsoft is Accelerating Sustainability Progress," Microsoft blog, September 12, 2018, https://blogs.microsoft.com/ on-the-issues/2018/09/12/beyond-our-four-walls-how-microsoft-is-acceleratingsustainability-progress/.

²⁹ "Salesforce Sustainability Cloud Becomes Generally Available," Salesforce press release, January 6, 2020, https://www.salesforce.com/company/news-press/ stories/2020/1/sustainability-cloud/.

³⁰ U.S. Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, Open Government Data Act, S. Rep. No. 115-134 (2017), https://www.congress.gov/115/crpt/ srpt134/CRPT-115srpt134.pdf.

³¹ Jessie Bur, "What Comes After Legally Mandated OPEN Data," *Federal Times*, February 7, 2019, https://www.federaltimes.com/it-networks/2019/02/07/whatcomes-after-legally-mandated-open-data/. ³² Yu Cong, Martin Freedman, and Jin Dong Park, "Mandated Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Required SEC Climate Change Disclosures," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Volume 247, February 20, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2019.119111.

³³ Tim Stumhofer, "Developing Implementation Capacity for a Low-Carbon Asia: Opportunities and Challenges in MRV" (presentation, November 29, 2012) https:// archive.iges.or.jp/en/archive/cop/PDF/1211cop18/Tim_Stumhofer.pdf.

³⁴ Gunnar Friede, Timo Busch, and Alexander Bassen, "ESG and Financial Performance: Aggregated Evidence from More than 2000 Empirical Studies," *Journal of Sustainable Finance and Investment*, Volume 5, Issue 4, December 15, 2015, https://doi.org/10.1080/20430795.2015.1118917.

³⁵ Tracy Mayor, "Why ESG Ratings Vary So Widely (and What You Can Do About It)," MIT blog, August 26, 2019, https://mitsloan.mit.edu/ideas-made-to-matter/why-esg-ratings-vary-so-widely-and-what-you-can-do-about-it.

³⁶ Max Almono, et al., ESG 2.0: *How to Improve ESG Scoring to Better Reflect Renewable Energy Use and Investment* (Washington, DC: American Council on Renewable Energy, September 2019), https://acore.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/ACORE_ESG-2.0_Sept-2019.pdf.

37 Ibid.

³⁸ Timothy M. Doyle, *Ratings That Don't Rate: The Subjective World of ESG Ratings Agencies* (Washington, DC: American Council for Capital Formation, July 2018), https://accfcorpgov.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ACCF_RatingsESGReport.pdf.

³⁹ Burton G. Malkiel, "The Invisible Digital Hand," *The Wall Street Journal*, November 28, 2016, https://www.wsj.com/articles/the-invisible-digital-hand-1479168252.

⁴⁰ "State of Open Data: Environment," Open Data for Development Network website, accessed February 12, 2020, https://www.stateofopendata.od4d.net/ chapters/sectors/environment.html.

⁴¹ Deborah Gordon, et al, *Know Your Oil* (Washington, DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2015), https://carnegieendowment.org/files/know_your_oil.pdf.

⁴² Future Earth, *Digital Disruptions for Sustainability Agenda (D^2S Agenda): Research, Innovation, Action.*



ec-map.org | info@ec-map.org